ADOPTED

City of Keene
New Hampshire

BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN PATH ADVISORY COMMITTEE
MEETING MINUTES

Wednesday, January 8, 2025 8:15 AM 2"d Floor Conference Room,
City Hall

Members Present: Staff Present:

Samantha Jackson, Chair William Schoefmann, GIS Coordinator

Rowland Russell, Vice Chair Carrah Fisk-Hennessey, Director of

Dwight Fischer Parks and Recreation

Councilor Edward Haas Bryan Ruoff, City Engineer

Jan Manwaring
Diana Duffy, Alternate
Charles Redfern, Alternate

Members Not Present:
Michael Davern

Autumn DelaCroix
Janelle Sartorio, Alternate

1) Call to Order, Roll Call and Welcome

Chair Jackson called the meeting to order at 8:25 AM. Mr. Dwight Fischer introduced himself as
a new member. He previously resided in Keene from 1987-2000, when he moved away, but has
since returned. He spends time bicycling, is an avid tourist cycler, and spends a lot of time in the
saddle.

2) Approval of December 11, 2024 Minutes

With no corrections, Chair Jackson motioned to approve the minutes and received a second from
Dr. Rowland Russell. With all in favor and no opposition, the minutes from December 11, 2024
were adopted.

3) Adoption of the 2025 Meeting Schedule

With no opposition, Dr. Russell moved to adopt the 2025 calendar schedule and was seconded by
Mrs. Jan Manwaring. With all in favor, the motion was approved.

4) Safety and Outreach
A) Plan Discussion and Budget Requests




BPPAC Meeting Minutes ADOPTED
January 8, 2025

Chair Jackson invited Councilor Haas to provide an update. Councilor Haas stated he would like
to see each member take on something and add it to the table. Previously, there was discussion
about outreach to the bike shops to serve as a liaison to the bike shop.

Councilor Haas invited others to contribute ideas. He thought the website could serve as a home
for developed materials. Dr. Russell wanted to point out that there was nothing on the list for
pedestrian safety and outreach and believed there was a need for that. He noted that Mrs.
Manwaring has done a great job highlighting pedestrian safety features or issues over the years.
He suggested some outreach, including hiking and walking groups. Councilor Haas agreed, saying
they are all pedestrians and that more attention must be paid to sidewalk development when it
comes. Councilor Haas asked members if anyone would take on items and volunteered to take on
Norm’s Bike Shop.

Dr. Russell added that safety and outreach as part of the downtown infrastructure also need to
reach pedestrians to help them understand the rules and their role within that new matrix.

Chair Jackson recognized Mr. Chuck Redfern. Mr. Redfern noted that he is on the Monadnock
Alliance for Sustainable Transportation, which comes out of the Southwest Regional Planning
Commission, and Pathways for Keene. Dr. Russell added that he is on Monadnock Outdoors, a
consortium of groups that support outdoor recreation. He suggested adding Monadnock Outdoors
to that list.

Ms. Diana Duffy was unsure where this chart would go but felt it did not speak for the entire group.
She questioned whether the group was covered if this document was to get out. Mr. Schoefmann
understood that buy-in is key and becomes inert if people do not feel they have the capacity.
Councilor Haas responded, saying that this was simply a trial effort. She appreciated that
clarification and offered to be a League of American Bicyclists (LAB) contact and provide updates.
Dr. Russell suggested changing the word “desires” to “proposes” in the document.

Mr. Redfern supported the monthly reporting. He shared that he is part of Pathways for Keene and
MAST, and so far, the communication has been one-way, with him reporting what BPPAC is
doing. Dr. Russell liked the idea, but expressed concern about time on the committee given the
already lengthy running agenda. He proposed that updates from those groups be sent to Mr.
Schoefmann for inclusion in the packet, and any questions could be addressed in the meeting. Mr.
Redfern expressed concern regarding the additional burden on Mr. Schoefmann. So long as people
stuck to a minute-long update, Mr. Schoefmann did not see challenges in adding it to the meeting.

Mrs. Manwaring asked that Mike Davern’s group, the New England Mountain Bike Association,
be added to the list. It was determined that Mr. Davern is no longer president and that it is now
Josh Foote. With no other volunteers offering to take on additional groups, Councilor Haas agreed
to start with the MAST, Monadnock Outdoors, Pathways for Keene, and Norm’s Ski and Bike
Shop for the first report-out during the next BPPAC meeting in February.

Page 2 of 11



BPPAC Meeting Minutes ADOPTED
January 8, 2025

Chair Jackson asked if there was additional commentary on budget requests and provided a quick
recap for the newer members. Money was to be put towards a tent and a banner for events. Mr.
Schoefmann asked if anyone had ideas of what they wanted on it, what it should look like, or
whether staff should attempt a design. Ms. Duffy wondered if there was a process for tasks like
this and noted that she was concerned about it being a waste of time and effort. Mr. Schoefmann
explained that for the previous banner, he and Councilor Haas had drafted it based on the group's
input of what should be on there. The idea was then presented to the communications team, which
created an initial draft. It was sent to print after being brought back to the group and receiving
additional input and subsequent changes.

Councilor Haas reassured that they would not come up with anything outrageous and that
communication would ensure it fits the City of Keene standard. Mr. Schoefmann explained that in
terms of logos, the group is relatively hamstrung by the City’s branding. Ms. Duffy reminded the
group that they had the LAB certification, which could include the City logo and branding.

Mr. Schoefmann suggested reviewing the banner previously created by Councilor Haas for Bike
Week. Mr. Redfern noted that Beeze Tee’s and Gem Graphics are good local businesses for
printing banners.

Mr. Schoefmann noted that within safety and outreach, one of the things he does not see is events.
At the last meeting, he reminded the group of his previous suggestion to tie each budget request
item to something tangible within the plan. He suggested changing the wording to reflect that the
items are related and to be used at or for events and include some metrics. Dr. Russell clarified
that it is not only attending events, but also events that the BPPAC might put on. He also felt
outreach was a good addition since he did not see it on the table. Mr. Schoefmann asked if they
intended to formalize the table for the next meeting, to which the group agreed. Mr. Schoefmann
suggested trying and said the answer may be from various departments. Chair Jackson suggested
combining the bottom two rows into one item. Dr. Russel suggested combining them and calling
them education and outreach. Councilor Haas told members to watch for something circulating,
add their comments, and they will pull together a final draft to be voted on at the next meeting in
February.

B) Map Project Update

Mr. Schoefmann provided an update, saying that creating a double-sided regional/Keene-centric
map has been quite an endeavor. Southwest Regional Planning Commission made the regional
side. Mr. Redfern had copies of both maps that were passed around. He noted that Southwest
gathered substantial information, with a commendable effort to align the data with the Rail Trails.
This includes effectively matching locations and key features benefiting the trail system. On the
Keene side, the conversation shifted toward the broader trail system, which consists of various
connectors not strictly part of the Rail Trail network. While the Rail Trails are significant features
in the Keene area, there is a greater emphasis on the multi-use trail system overall. Additionally,
parking information and waypoints for the trails have been included in the materials, offering

Page 3 0f 11



BPPAC Meeting Minutes ADOPTED
January 8, 2025

further support for trail users. Including these practical details was appreciated, as it will help guide
users more effectively along the routes.

Dr. Russell commended the effort. Mr. Redfern commended Mr. Schoefmann and Henry
Underwood of Southwest Regional Planning Commission for their work on this, saying that it has
been no small effort.

Mr. Schoefmann provided an update on the trail system maps, noting that the Keene side of the
map is more simplified. The waypoints along the trail system remain visible on the map, ensuring
important locations are highlighted. Additionally, Mr. Schoefmann acknowledged the support of
sponsors prominently featured on the map. Special recognition was given to Mr. Redfern, who
played a key role in fundraising for the project. Thanks to Mr. Redfern’s efforts, $2,200 was raised
in a single day for the initial print run of the maps. Mr. Schoefmann also mentioned that some
adjustments must be made to the map key and other elements. Some minor details, described as
"stragglers,” must be cleaned up to refine how the information is presented.

Mr. Schoefmann asked Mr. Fischer if he wanted to comment. Mr. Fischer said the first thing that
jumped out at him was Goose Pond, and while he knows that it is highly used, he would not send
casual riders there on some of those trails. From what he could tell from the map, Stonewall Farm
appeared to have less developed trails, stating that those are mountain bike trails, and anything
they could do to delineate that it is not a paved trail or that it becomes dirt would be good. Mr.
Schoefmann responded that the map key shows those unpaved trails, but stated that he understood
Mr. Fischer’s point. Mr. Schoefmann said a possibility might be to change the line to dotted or to
take away the bolding. Mr. Fischer felt that was important given that these would be available to
tourists. Locals generally know this information, but tourists will not. He suggested trying to make
it as straightforward as possible.

Dr. Russell agreed and thought this would also apply to Stearn’s Hill. He suggested using a color
code. Mr. Schoefmann believed the better way to go, and an easy one that would address Mr.
Fischer’s point would be to remove the bolding to delineate between the primary versus secondary
trails.

Mr. Schoefmann explained that some things need to be changed, including the waypoint listings,
which will be shrunk down in size. He is still trying to determine if he can fit the packing list on
the map. Mr. Redfern asked if there was a plan to include the QR codes. Mr. Schoefmann
responded that he believed the map would be a standalone item.

Dr. Russell knew these would be available in stores, but asked if they would also be available in
the kiosks. Mr. Schoefmann shared that Mr. Bohannon had reached out to him inquiring about the
possibility of using the map as the map on the kiosk, which Mr. Schoefmann felt was doable. Dr.
Russell followed up to ask if that included the regional map. Mr. Schoefmann was unsure, but felt
that would be something the BPPAC would need to push. Using a smaller regional map or QR

Page 4 of 11



BPPAC Meeting Minutes ADOPTED
January 8, 2025

coding it to a website might be possible, but Mr. Schoefmann explained that a problem with public
QR codes is scams.

Dr. Russell said the argument he would make for including the regional map in some form is to
promote regional ecotourism by connecting bike riders to nearby trails. This could enhance
awareness of local routes and encourage more visitors to explore the area, supporting economic
and recreational growth. He added that if concern about the safety of QR codes was an issue, you
could include a small sentence saying, “For more information about regional trails, visit our
website.”

Chair Jackson asked if there were any other thoughts on the map. Numerous members commended
Mr. Schoefmann, Mr. Fischer, and Mr. Underwood for their work on it. Referring to the local map,
Mr. Fischer noted that on Drummer Hill, there is a main line due north of Timberline Drive that
has not been ridden in a long time and is showing up. He offered to go into the trails in that area
to see if any of the trails in that area are worth keeping and to update Mr. Schoefmann on his
findings. Mr. Redfern noted that there are time constraints to get these items to the printer.

5) Reqgular Project Updates
A) Downtown Infrastructure Project (Railroad Square)

Councilor Haas shared that at the MSFI meeting, the proposed bike shelter for Railroad Square
was removed due to a lack of clarity regarding its design, size, location, and purpose. Concerns
about its use, including being mistaken for a homeless shelter, were raised. A recommendation
was made for BPPAC to develop a well-defined proposal for the shelter, ensuring it meets
community needs and expectations. Councilor Haas asked Mr. Ruoff if he was summarizing it
correctly. Mr. Ruoff said he felt it was a fair assessment.

Mr. Ruoff shared that the proposed bike shelter for Railroad Square remains under consideration,
but has been shifted to an alternative status in the project. The lack of consensus and clear direction
about its design and use led to its removal from the base bid. However, it may still be included if
funding becomes available, as the Council discussed keeping it as an optional component.
Feedback and further definition will guide its development to ensure it fits the space and
community needs.

Councilor Haas explained that Railroad Square is in the plan's second year, which gives them little
time to nail down the particulars. Chair Jackson shared that her understanding from the minutes
was that the Council was more amenable to the idea if it had more pedestrian amenities than if it
was just a bicycle amenity. Including pedestrian amenities in the proposed bike shelter is a good
idea. A comparable example is the bike shelter at the Rec Center, which she believed also
functioned as a bus stop with a bench. The envisioned design—a simple overhead structure without
side protection—offers limited shelter from wind and rain. To the Council’s note on homeless
individuals using that as protection space, she did not feel it would attract those individuals in the
mass and felt the concern might be overstated.

Page 5 of 11



BPPAC Meeting Minutes ADOPTED
January 8, 2025

Chair Jackson recognized Ms. Duffy. Ms. Duffy noted that the covered parking garage is a block
away and asked if there was potential to take two parking spaces within the garage to place an
attractive bike rack. Mr. Schoefmann said there have been attempts at that before. He noted the
first hurdle is the concern of taking parking away. He said getting promotional material out is
going to be key. Ms. Duffy responded that if the issue were being covered, there would be covered
spaces already accessible. In a previous meeting, she referenced Chair Jackson's comment about
the existing model. She did not feel it necessary to reinvent the wheel.

Chair Jackson pointed out that both parking garages have issues with theft, particularly wheel theft.
She felt the lack of visibility and the garages' covering contribute to the opportunity and ease with
which the thefts occur.

Mr. Redfern felt that while bike shelters are beneficial, bike lockers are increasingly important,
especially for high-value bikes like e-bikes and premium manual bikes, which can cost thousands
of dollars. Traditional locks are vulnerable to theft, making secure storage critical. BPPAC has
previously discussed bike lockers, and he felt they should be considered for future infrastructure
projects, such as the new parking garage. Advocating for bike lockers would address security
concerns and support the growing demand for safe bike storage.

Councilor Haas felt they might have more success advocating for a bike locker than a bike shelter
because it eliminates all of the council’s concerns. He acknowledged that it was a higher cost, but
it might be worth it if it eliminates all other problems or issues.

Chair Jackson recognized Dr. Russell, who suggested that collaborating with the Food Co-op could
be an alternative, if the bike shelter is not included in the Railroad Square plan. Placing the shelter
near the back, where the rail trail passes, could benefit the Co-op while remaining accessible for
public use.

Chair Jackson recognized Ms. Duffy. Ms. Duffy highlighted the fact that language matters when
discussing bike infrastructure. The term "bike shelter" might evoke different perceptions
depending on the context or design, potentially triggering concerns about the unhoused. Similar
problems could arise with bike lockers, but addressing misconceptions proactively and being
prepared to educate the public is essential. The choice of words and communication strategy can
significantly influence how such projects are received.

Chair Jackson recognized Mr. Fischer, who asked whether the bike shelter is intended for long-
term or short-term parking. He also inquired about the target users for these parking spots,
questioning whether they are meant for residents who will leave their bikes for extended periods
or for casual users who park temporarily when visiting downtown. He requested a definition of
"long-term™ in this context.

Page 6 of 11



BPPAC Meeting Minutes ADOPTED
January 8, 2025

Councilor Haas responded that the Council obliged the building owner to provide bicycle storage
and that the parking garages are for short-term use. Mr. Fischer raised concerns about the
effectiveness of covered parking for short-term use, questioning what the shelter would protect
against, as bikers can manage with rain gear and seat covers. He emphasized that proximity to
destinations is likely more important to bikers than covered parking. He also cautioned against
prematurely building infrastructure before attracting bikers, noting that such facilities can become
neglected over time. Additionally, he questioned whether the shelter would genuinely appeal to
owners of expensive bikes, as they prefer keeping their bikes in sight rather than leaving them in
a sheltered area.

Dr. Russell agreed with Mr. Fischer’s idea and suggested placing a regular bike rack in the
proposed location instead of immediately installing a shelter. This would allow for monitoring
usage through their census to better understand demand before committing to a shelter.

Councilor Haas emphasized the need for a clear recommendation on the project, urging the group
to either finalize their proposal or postpone the decision. If a firm recommendation is to be made,
it should include a specific plan, such as a design or image of the shelter, or a proposal from Parks
and Recreation.

Given the limited time left in the meeting, Chair Jackson opted to table the discussion to be
continued in the February meeting.

B) Other

Chair Jackson asked Mr. Schoefmann for an update. Mr. Schoefmann shared that, regarding
sidewalks, he still needed to get the CIP schedule in front of the BPPAC members. He offered to
share that via e-mail before the following February meeting. He felt they had already touched on
the Downtown Infrastructure Project in the meeting, but he asked Mr. Ruoff if there was anything
else he would like to add.

Mr. Ruoff suggested that before the next meeting, he could prepare a plan showing potential
locations for bike racks based on the direction in which most racks will be mountable, with a few
movable ones. He believes this plan could help refine the locations and gather feedback during the
following discussion.

Dr. Russell mentioned that tomorrow's FOP meeting will discuss a proposal to delay the downtown
infrastructure construction for a year. He noted that this delay could impact the inclusion of
protected bike lanes, as rising costs may lead to removing them from the budget. He encouraged
everyone to attend, as the meeting could be the last opportunity for public input on the construction
delay. The meeting will be held at 6:00 PM in the Council Chambers tomorrow (Thursday).

Mr. Ruoff explained the project timeline, noting that bidding would occur in April or May of this
year if the project proceeds without delay, with construction starting in the fall. If delayed, bidding

Page 7 of 11



BPPAC Meeting Minutes ADOPTED
January 8, 2025

would happen in November, with construction pushed to spring 2026. He emphasized the
importance of discussing a clear plan with the Committee on Thursday night so everyone is aligned
on the next steps.

Councilor Haas clarified that the discussion is about delaying the bidding process, not the project
itself. He maintained that the plan was to bid first and assess the costs before deciding on any
delay. However, if the bidding process isn't ready to proceed, delaying it would open the door for
adjustments to the project.

Dr. Russell expressed confusion, wondering how delaying the bid would not affect the start of
construction and that the situation did not make sense to him. Mr. Ruoff clarified that if the Council
votes to delay the bid, the bidding process will be pushed to November. This delay is intended to
avoid dealing with price increases or contract changes. He plans to meet with Don before the
meeting to ensure this is communicated during the discussion.

Councilor Haas confirmed that the current direction is to bid in March or April and begin
construction in May. This timeline could change, but it's the established plan. He noted that the
proposal to delay construction for a year is on the table, and the FOP meeting on Thursday will
recommend this to the full Council. Public input will not be accepted during the full Council
meeting next week.

6)  Volunteer Opportunities

A) Yield Counts, Bike Rack Censure, and Bicycle/ Pedestrian Counts
7)  Old Business

A)  Wayfinding Updates

Mr. Schoefmann said it sounded like Mr. Bohannon would be reaching out on that.

Councilor Haas asked Mr. Ruoff if he had the bullet point he had offered to bring to the last
meeting. Mr. Ruoff responded that he may have jumped the gun in the previous meeting and would
have more details after today's meeting with DOT. He explained that four communities submitted
an intent to file, and the DOT meeting is mandatory to ensure participants can follow through.
After the meeting, Mr. Ruoff said he plans to send the specifics to the Chair and Mr. Schoefmann.
He emphasized the importance of receiving the group’s support letter before submitting the grant
application on January 28th. Mr. Ruoff offered to help draft the letter if needed.

Mr. Schoefmann asked which phase of the Transportation Heritage Trail Project this was. Mr.
Ruoff clarified that phase two consisted of replacing the bridges. Mr. Schoefmann explained that
TAP (the Transportation Alternatives Program) is a federally funded program managed by New
Hampshire DOT. A new round of applications is open, and a letter of support is needed for the
project discussed. He emphasized the importance of timing, noting that the committee needs to
provide direction to write the letter before the January 28" deadline, as the committee won't meet
again until February. This is critical for the phase two bridge replacement portion of the project.

Page 8 of 11



BPPAC Meeting Minutes ADOPTED
January 8, 2025

Dr. Russell motioned that the Committee authorize the Chair to draft a letter of support for the
TAP Heritage Trail Phase Two grant application. Councilor Haas seconded the motion, which was
unanimously approved.

Mr. Ruoff shared that the full Council has approved the crosswalk at Pearl Street, although the
specific design is still to be determined. The plan is to use leftover parts from the upper Winchester
Street project to install a flashing beacon for the Pearl and West Street crosswalks. The crosswalk
is expected to be put in place during the spring; however, the expenditure for this project will
require approval from the FOP Committee.

Mr. Schoefmann shared that some of the scuttlebutt at the meeting involved a potential area of
refuge. Mr. Ruoff clarified that incorporating an area of refuge for crossings is not feasible as part
of the current work, but is already planned as part of the West Street reconstruction project. The
goal is to create a haven in the center of the road, allowing pedestrians to cross multiple lanes of
traffic safely.

Mr. Ruoff announced that the Marlboro Street Corridor project will go out to bid in the next couple
of weeks, and NH DOT plans to review it. The project includes part of the Transportation Heritage
Trail, a key focus. He mentioned that Phase 1 of the trail is moving forward, with discussions about
repairing or replacing stone culverts adjacent to the trail to prevent future issues. He also noted
that the City Appraiser has completed the necessary easement appraisals.

Regarding materials for the trail, he asked for feedback on whether the group prefers stone dust or
crushed stone/fine gravel for the path. Stone dust hardens like concrete, while crushed stone would
make it easier to pave later. He sought input on which material the group favors for future
adaptability.

Mr. Ruoff explained that the project is being bid with a paved path as the primary option and stone
dust as the backup, if funding is unavailable. He clarified that if paving occurs later, the trail must
be mixed with gravel to provide a strong base for the pavement. He asked for the group's preference
on the material for the trail, as he was trying to gauge opinions on whether stone dust or another
material is preferred.

Dr. Russell asked whether there was potential for the pavement to be accepted in Phase 2 if it was
not accepted in Phase 1 of the project. Mr. Ruoff responded that it would be possible. In that case,
it would make more sense to do what is the least costly.

Mr. Fischer inquired about the long-term maintenance costs of gravel versus pavement. Mr. Ruoff
explained that once stone gravel sets up after exposure to rain, it hardens like concrete and requires
much less maintenance. Gravel may need occasional supplementation, while paved paths, though
great initially, tend to require more repairs as they age.

Page 9 of 11



BPPAC Meeting Minutes ADOPTED
January 8, 2025

Mr. Fischer provided an example of the trail between Wheelock Park and Court Street, estimated
to be about 50 years old. He acknowledged that the best trail, like the one between West Street and
the golf course, uses tightly packed stone dust, which performs well overtime, likened to a
"superhighway."

The "Safe Streets for All" resolution was approved by the full Council and will be a formal
document soon. South Winchester Street is in its preliminary design phase, with public meetings
expected to be held in late spring or early summer. Sidewalk replacement projects are ongoing,
with a plan to potentially purchase a sidewalk paver to handle repairs in-house, therefore bypassing
the CIP. Upper Winchester Street is expected to be completed in the next few months. Parks and
Rec are planning to rehab pedestrian bridges this fiscal year. A new project is underway for a
downtown parking structure, and Mr. Ruoff is seeking input on locations that could benefit from
bike lockers or bike parking.

Mr. Ruoff suggested that bike lockers or racks in parking garages would be a practical option,
providing easy, covered space. He plans to forward this idea to Mr. Schoefmann for the next
meeting.

Ms. Carrah Fisk-Hennessey shared that progress is being made on the Goose Pond Stewardship
Committee's project in collaboration with Engineering Staff and the Public Works Department.
They plan to build a spillway bridge, providing access so people don't have to walk or ride through
the water. The bridge will be approximately 82 feet from the spillway, offering both water access
and a dry path. She expressed excitement about the project.

B)  Website

Mr. Schoefmann forwarded the content members wanted to be added to the website to the
communications team. Hopefully, they will work to get that updated and taken care of before
February.

Councilor Haas asked if they could invite the communications team to the next meeting. The intent
would be to discuss ways in which the BPPAC can reduce the burden on them, given the challenge
of creating a website.
8)  New Business
Items to be included for the next meeting.
9) MoreTime
A) Continued Bike Racks Discussion

B) Community Bike Share
C) Public Art and The Trails Updates

Page 10 of 11



BPPAC Meeting Minutes ADOPTED
January 8, 2025

10) Next Meeting: February 12, 2025

11) Adjournment

With no further business, Chair Jackson adjourned the meeting at 9:37 AM.

Respectfully submitted by,
Amanda Trask, Minute Taker

Reviewed and edited by,

Megan Fortson, Planner
Will Schoefmann, GIS Coordinator

Page 11 of 11



